Clerk of the Court  
Received 06/30/2025 04:50 PM  
Filed 06/30/2025 04:50 PM

---

*In the*  
**District of Columbia**  
**Court of Appeals**

---

SYLVIA PEARSON, PR, Estate of BARRY MICHAEL PEARSON  
and Individually,

*Plaintiffs-Appellants,*

v.

MEDSTAR WASHINGTON HOSPITAL CENTER, *et. al.*,

*Defendants-Appellees.*

*On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil  
Division in Case 2022 CA 001213 M and 2022 CA 001311 M  
(Honorable Maurice A. Ross, Judge)*

---

**BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS**

---

GEORGE L. GARROW, JR., ESQ.  
BAR #393213  
THE GARROW LAW FIRM, PLLC  
300 New Jersey Avenue, NW, Suite 300  
Washington, DC 20001  
(202) 469-3411

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- I. Whether the trial court erred in determining that the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine is inapplicable in a medical malpractice case involving multiple healthcare providers and a hospital-acquired pressure injury?
- II. Whether the trial court erred by failing to impose liability on all Defendants under the theory of apparent or ostensible agency?
- III. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by excluding the testimony of Plaintiffs' experts?
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Plaintiffs' claim for lack of informed consent in a hospital-acquired pressure injury case?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiffs Sylvia Pearson, personal representative of the estate of her late husband Barry Michael Pearson, and individually, filed suit against Medstar Washington Hospital Center (MWHC); Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of the Mid-Atlantic States, Inc. and Mid-Atlantic Permanente Medical Group. P.C. (Kaiser/MAPMG); and Birju Ringwala, DO, for medical malpractice resulting in injuries and the death of Mr. Pearson. Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants caused Mr. Pearson to develop a significant and life-threatening stage IV sacral decubitus

ulcer that he did not have upon admission. The infection from the hospital-acquired stage IV pressure injury ultimately caused septic shock, fungemia, and death to Mr. Pearson.

Ms. Pearson timely filed suit in 2 separate legal actions, case no. 2022-CA-001213-M and case no. 2022-CA-001213-M to comply with the statutory notice requirements under DC Code §§ 16-2802 and 2803 for multiple defendants served at different times. The cases were consolidated under case no. 2022-CA-001213-M. Plaintiffs' complaint was amended to dismiss without prejudice Dr. Ringwala and, by Defendants' motion, the Pearson's adult daughters Akilah and Zakiya Pearson as named Plaintiffs.

Pertinent and controlling for this action is Ms. Pearson's second amended complaint. A718.

### **STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

Mr. Barry Michael Pearson was admitted to Defendant Medstar Washington Hospital Center (MWHC) on September 19, 2019, with chest pains. He was mobile upon his admission to the hospital. A656 at 121. Mr. Pearson recently had been working as a part-time driver for Uber and was active. A631 at 22. His treatment was provided both by MWHC and Kaiser/MAPMG. His medical history included kidney disease for which he had recently begun dialysis. A635 at 37. He also had a prior history of congestive heart and breathing difficulties. A1021.

It was determined that Mr. Pearson had a partially blocked artery requiring left heart catheterization that occurred on September 23, 2019. The family did not expect a long recuperation and expected him to come home after a brief hospital stay. A1037 at 17-18. Unfortunately, Mr. Pearson's hospital stay spanned 3 entire months, and his spouse Ms. Sylvia Pearson and family contend that Defendants MWHC and Kaiser/MAPMG, through their doctors and nursing staff, provided care so poor and inadequate, that it caused a life-threatening pressure injury that he did not have upon admission. A759 at 102-103.

Mr. Pearson's Hospital-Acquired Pressure Injury was Stage IV –  
The Worst and Most Life-Threatening Pressure Injury

This serious pressure injury --- this “[L]arge deep sacral ulcer” --- was a significant hole in the backside of Mr. Pearson measuring 15 x 14 x 2.3 cm at the time of his death. A786. It led to serious infections --- fungemia, necrotizing fasciitis, osteomyelitis with exposed bone --- which in turn led to Mr. Pearson experiencing septic shock and death. A787. However, the family was not aware that Mr. Pearson had developed such a life-threatening injury while at MWHC, and only learned about how serious it was after his death. A660 at 140; A904; A1037 at 18-19.

The Funeral Director Shares with the Pearson Family a Horrible Photo of the Pressure Injury that Caused Mr. Pearson's Death

Patients with large stage IV pressure injuries are at risk for life-threatening sepsis and infection. A749 at 62. Mr. Pearson died on December 24, 2019, of septic shock and an infection. A787; A749 at 64. Ms. Pearson knew that her husband had a “tiny little” pressure injury, but the MWHC and Kaiser/MAPMG assured her that it was being treated and the problem handled. A660 at 140, lines 2-7. She was not aware of just how serious and horrendous the pressure sore was until the funeral home director, while preparing Mr. Pearson's body for burial, took a photo of the large and deep injury on Mr. Pearson's backside. A789; A904.

Ms. Pearson wondered how such an injury could happen while Mr. Pearson was in the hospital and being seen daily by doctors and nurses allegedly concerned about his health.

After this lawsuit was filed, Ms. Pearson sought an answer to this question and asked for any photos of Mr. Pearson's injury. The Defendants contended that they had no photos of Mr. Pearson's pressure injury. A738 at 20. However, nearly a year later, and only after a threat to compel production, that Plaintiffs received 2 “graphic” photos of Mr. Pearson's Stage 4 pressure injury from MWHC. A790; A791-797.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment because Plaintiffs properly invoked the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* to raise genuine issues of material fact as to whether Mr. Pearson's stage IV hospital acquired pressure injury – a “never event” as recognized by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) – was proximately caused by Defendants' negligence. The trial court's error in failing to apply *res ipsa loquitur* at the summary judgment stage in the context of this case lacked rationality and fairness where Plaintiffs proffered substantial circumstantial evidence. Defendants are subject to joint liability for negligence under the theory of apparent agency and a group approach to *res ipsa loquitur*, and the trial court erred in determining otherwise given Defendants' well-established coordinated business model of care. Furthermore, the trial court committed manifest error by excluding Plaintiffs experts' testimony on the basis that it is unsubstantiated by medical records and thus unreliable. DC law permits experts properly to invoke their knowledge and experience to review critically records and identify inaccuracies contained therein in the process of forming an opinion. Finally, the trial court gave no valid reason for summarily dismissing Plaintiffs' claim for lack of informed and disregarding the factual basis asserted.

## ARGUMENT

### I. The Trial Court Erred in Determining That the *Res Ipsa Loquitur* Doctrine is Inapplicable

On appeal, this Court reviews a “trial court’s grant of summary judgment *de novo*, applying the same standard as the trial court.” *Reeves v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth.*, 135 A.3d 807, 811 (D.C. 2016). This Court considers “whether ‘the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.’” *Id.*, quoting Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 (c). “[O]ne who moves for summary judgment has the burden of demonstrating clearly the absence of any genuine issue of fact, and any doubt as to the existence of such an issue is resolved against the movant.” *Bruno v. W. Union Fin. Servs.*, 973 A.2d 713, 717 (D.C. 2009), quoting *Doolin v. Environmental Power Ltd.*, 360 A.2d 493, 496 (D.C. 1976). However, once satisfied, the burden of production then shifts to the non-moving party to demonstrate that a material fact is genuinely disputed. *Bruno*, 973 A.2d at 717. “In considering a motion for summary judgment, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, who is entitled to all favorable inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidentiary materials.” *Phelan v. City of Mt. Rainier*, 805 A.2d 930, 936 (D.C. 2002) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

The Court “may not resolve issues of fact or weigh evidence at the summary judgment stage.” *Fry v. Diamond Construction, Inc.*, 659 A.2d 241, 245 (D.C. 1995) (internal quotation marks omitted); see *Barrett v. Covington & Burling, LLP*, 979 A.2d 1239, 1244 (D.C. 2009). It must determine whether “the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require submission to a jury or whether it is so one-sided that one party must prevail as a matter of law.” *Hunt v. District of Columbia*, 66 A.3d 987, 990 (D.C. 2013).

“*Res ipsa loquitur* permits a jury to infer negligence from the mere occurrence of an accident. The happening itself affords ‘reasonable evidence’ that the accident arose from a lack of due care.” *McCoy v. Quadrangle Dev. Corp.*, 470 A.2d 1256, 1259 n. 7 (D.C. 1983); see *Hailey v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 636 A.2d 426, 428 (1994); *Quin v. George Washington University*, 407 A.2d 580, 582 (1979). In a medical malpractice case, as in negligence cases generally, a plaintiff seeking to invoke the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* must demonstrate that:

(1) the occurrence is of the kind which ordinarily does not occur in the absence of someone’s negligence; (2) it must be caused by an agency or instrumentality within the control (exclusive or joint) of the defendant; (3) it must not have been due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of the plaintiff.

*Otis Elevator Co.*, 636 A.2d at 428 (brackets and citations omitted); accord *Quin*, 407 A.2d at 582. Plaintiff must prove these requirements by a preponderance of the evidence. *Gubbins v. Hurson*, 885 A.2d 269, 282 (2005). It is well settled that the

applicability of *res ipsa loquitur* may be established by expert testimony and “if an expert can say as a matter of expert knowledge that the injury does not ordinarily occur unless caused by negligence, the jury should be permitted to infer negligence from the occurrence.” *Quin*, 407 A.2d at 583-584. Where a plaintiff cannot adduce direct proof as to the cause of an injury, “then the facts which can be established circumstantially may justify an inference by the jury that negligent conditions produced the injury.” *McCoy*, 470 A.2d at 1259. Notably, “[i]n such a case, a jury is not left in the domain of speculation, but they have circumstances upon which, as reasonable minds, they may ground their conclusions.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Here, the trial court summarily deemed the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* inapplicable...wholly dismissing the idea out of hand without allowing discussion, stating:

So my question is, tell me a case where someone is in the hospital, and there’s medical malpractice, but we – but we – but we can’t – but the plaintiff can’t name any specific actor or any specific act, just that the result – this is just the result. But if you had *res ipsa*, you could get to the jury. But without *res ipsa*, which I’m not giving you, it doesn’t apply here.

Hearing Transcript at 18:22-25, 19:1-4. The trial court insisted that Plaintiffs case is “inverted” and “begs speculation from the jury.” Hearing Transcript at 19:18, 21:15-16, 20. Notwithstanding the trial court’s dismissive characterization of Plaintiffs’ case, the record establishes substantial circumstantial evidence that would justify an

inference that Defendants were negligent in their provision of care to Mr. Pearson, thus bypassing the “domain of speculation” and raising a genuine factual dispute as to proximate causation – a quintessential jury question. *McCoy*, 470 A.2d at 1259.

As fully detailed below, the record satisfies each condition for the application of *res ipsa loquitur* such that the trial court erred in denying its applicability in this case.

A. *A fatal Stage IV hospital-acquired pressure injury does not ordinarily occur in the absence of negligence*

As a predicate to understanding Plaintiffs experts’ opinions, it’s important to appreciate that there is no dispute that Mr. Pearson’s Stage IV pressure injury was hospital-acquired...meaning simply that he did not have any pressure injury before entering the hospital, and developed a Stage II injury that progressed to a Stage IV pressure injury while Defendants were treating him for an unrelated ailment. Kaiser’s corporate representative agrees with this fact:

6 Q: We've already taken you through the medical  
7 records and we've determined that this is a hospital  
8 acquired injury, correct?

9 A: In this situation, it seems to be.

10 Q: Not that it seems to be. I mean, based upon  
11 what I asked you, you testified earlier that he did not  
12 have any skin tears on admission and he ended up with  
13 Stage II, then a Stage IV pressure ulcer while he was in  
14 the hospital, isn't that correct?

....

18 A Yes.

A759.

Within this context, Plaintiffs proffered the expert testimony of Thureiyya K. Rodriguez DHA, MSN, COCN, WCN (hereinafter “Dr. Rodriguez”) and Salvador Guerrero, DO (hereinafter “Dr. Guerrero”) to establish that Mr. Pearson’s injury ordinarily would not occur in the absence of negligence.

Dr. Rodriguez holds a doctorate in healthcare administration and nursing registration in New York State, and conducted her wound, ostomy, and continence training at Emory University in Atlanta, GA. She has an active clinical practice where she treats patients for wound/ostomy/continence issues, and skin and wound conditions. She also provides education and training to clinical staff of hospitals and other health facilities. She has served as wound nurse for various healthcare facilities and has performed peer-review analyses for institutional clients. A69-75. In this case, Dr. Rodriguez opined:

It is my conclusion, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty or probability, that the Defendants, including nurses, nurses’ aides and physicians, failed to meet the standard of care required of healthcare professionals with similar backgrounds, that caused [decedent] to develop significant and serious pressure injuries during his hospitalization that he did not have on admission to the facility.

A63-68.

In support of her opinion, Dr. Rodriguez testified that the development of a Stage IV pressure injury evidenced a failure to maintain Mr. Pearson's skin integrity during admission and that the extent of such failure constitutes a "never event." A64; A946-947.

According to the National Quality Forum, "never events are errors in medical care that are clearly identifiable, preventable, and serious in their consequences for patients." A800. Never events are patient safety incidents that are preventable and so serious they should never happen. A811-812. In 2008, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services designated Stage III and IV pressure injuries acquired after admission to a healthcare facility as never events. Notably, the "never" in the term "never event" does not suggest that such injuries are a rarity. Rather, it signals a consensus in the medical field that such injuries should never occur given that they are preventable through the use of evidence-based guidelines. A799-810. Insofar as Dr. Rodriguez identified decedent's injury as belonging to a class of injuries uniformly recognized as errors in medical care that are preventable, it is submitted that Dr. Rodriguez's expert opinion testimony establishes that, categorically, decedent's injury ordinarily does not occur in the absence of negligence.

Plaintiffs' second expert, Dr. Guerrero, is a Certified Wound Specialist Physician with more than a decade of experience in hospital, outpatient post-acute rehabilitation, and long-term care experience. His daily work involves counseling

facility administrators, directors of nursing, and medical directors on maintaining and optimizing standards of wound care and pressure injury prevention. He treats patients with similar conditions experienced by Mr. Pearson, and he has performed clinical evaluations, chart documentation, and weekly rounding with bedside surgical interventions, including debridement, biopsies, and local wound care. Earlier in his career, he served as wound care director for two hospitals. He has performed general and vascular surgical interventions. A32-34; A849.

Dr. Guerrero testified that “[i]f all of the standards of care had been followed and instituted starting with [Mr. Pearson’s] high risk with the multiple comorbidities this would never have happened.” A850.

Given a potentially long hospital stay, the standard of care required measures to ensure that he did not have skin-breakdown during the hospitalization that would result in pressure ulcers. A baseline nutritional evaluation including pre-albumin and PO intake is required, with close nutritionist follow-up to prevent such skin-breakdown. Because of baseline functional status and continence evaluation, Mr. Pearson required assist minimally with repositioning. He therefore was a candidate for early use of a specialized mattress (low air loss mattress), then later strict repositioning every 2 hours, wedge pillows to off-load high risk areas of skin break down (sacrum and buttocks), off-loading boots to prevent deep tissue injuries to calves and heels, and moisture-protectant skin barrier creams to prevent skin break down due to incontinence.

A900.

Defendants sought to characterize the existence of Mr. Pearson’s “comorbidities” -- - more than one illness--- as evidence that negligence was not the cause of the injury and thereby advance a theory that the injury was “unavoidable”. In contrast, Dr.

Guerrero notes that people come to the hospital because they are sick, often with multiple health problems, and the “comorbidities” upon admission are expected. It is the Defendants’ job --- Mr. Pearson’s medical team --- notes Dr. Guerrero, to develop and implement an individualized care plan taking into account his comorbidities, and ensuring that stage III and IV pressure injuries do not occur. A834.

Based on the foregoing, Dr. Guerrero testified that if the standard of care had been followed, Mr. Pearson’s specific pressure injuries *would never have happened*. Dr. Guerrero testifies that only in a very limited circumstance can pressure injuries be deemed “unavoidable” --- described in the literature as “end-of-life” injuries brought on by imminent death in hours or a day or so --- that does not apply here. A844 at 99-100. Even assuming circumstances that do not apply (facts not in evidence), such an assumption does not undermine the reliability of his testimony as it pertains specifically to Mr. Pearson’s injury nor renders the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* inapplicable. *See Rivera v. Jewish Home Life Care*, 2024 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 13868, 10 (New York County, October 30, 2024) (“That there may be a variety of explanations for the decedent’s injuries is not a reason to grant defendant summary judgment or bar the use of the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine.”); *see also McGuire v. Cold Spring Hills*, 2020 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 2908, 12-13 (Queens County, May 21, 2020) (denying defendant’s summary judgment motion dismissing claims against it for

negligence and medical malpractice under theory of *res ipsa loquitur* where defendant expert failed to explain how or why decedent's co-morbidities would have caused decedent's sacral pressure ulcer to progress or prevent it from healing, regardless of quality of care).

Dr. Guerrero testified that “[o]nce a pressure ulcer is identified, if you correct what the contributing factors have been for that pressure ulcer you can heal that ulcer.” A850 at 122-123. Specifically, Dr. Guerrero opined that “if you institute the proper treatment and care you can heal those wounds and prevent them from progressing.” *Id.* Here, Mr. Pearson initially developed two Stage II pressure ulcers while under the care of Defendants’ medical personnel. Following the identification thereof, Mr. Pearson’s injury progressed to a Stage IV pressure ulcer. Accordingly, insofar as Defendants-Appellants medical personnel indisputably failed to prevent the Stage II pressure ulcer from progressing, and it was not an “end-of-life” situation, Dr. Guerrero’s testimony establishes that Defendants’ medical personnel failed to adhere to the proper standard of care. *See e.g. Rigney v. North Shore Univ. Hosp.*, 2013 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 2130, 18 (Suffolk County, May 14, 2013) (plaintiff’s expert raised factual issues precluding summary judgment in medical malpractice case under the theory of *res ipsa loquitur* where expert testified that “[h]ad the staff properly carried out physicians’ orders and complied with proper standards of skin care, a pressure ulcer would not have developed or progressed”).

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