IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Case No. 24-CV-1187

Clerk of the Court Received 07/30/2025 04:40 PM Filed 07/30/2025 04:40 PM

ESTATE OF BARRY MICHAEL PEARSON, et al.

Appellants

V.

MEDSTAR WASHINGTON HOSPITAL CENTER, et al.

Appellee

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia (The Honorable Maurice A. Ross) Case No(s). 2022 CA 00001213 M and 2022 CA 001311 M

BRIEF OF APPELLEE MEDSTAR WASHINGTON HOSPITAL CENTER

Janet A. Forero (DC Bar #422014)
Jared M. Green (DC Bar #1031675)
Peter R. Naugle (*Pro Hac Vice* pending)*
Goodell, DeVries, Leech & Dann, LLP
One South Street, 20th Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
Telephone: (410) 783-4000
Fax: (410) 783-4040

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"If the maxim, 'Res ipsa loquitur,' were applicable to a case like this, and a failure to cure were held to be evidence, however slight, of negligence on the part of the physician or surgeon causing a bad result, few would be courageous enough to practice the healing art, for they would have to assume financial liability for nearly all the 'ills that flesh is heir to."

Quick v. Thurston, 290 F.2d 360, 364 (D.C. Cir. 1961) (quoting Ewing v. Goode, 78 F. 442, 443 (C.C.S.D. Ohio 1897). The above observation was true in 1897, it was true when it was reiterated in 1961, and is vividly illustrated in the present case.

This case does not involve a surgery performed on the wrong body part. Rather, this case involves a pressure injury that developed during a three-month hospitalization, during which Mr. Pearson experienced multiple organ failure, numerous episodes of hemodynamic instability, and was "actively dying" by the end of the first month. Plaintiff's own experts acknowledge that these and similar circumstances can render pressure injuries unavoidable, a fact that is confirmed by literature published by the NPUAP – an organization that both of Plaintiff's experts consider authoritative. As the trial court rightly found, these circumstances do not permit a reliable *res ipsa loquitur* inference. The trial court therefore soundly exercised its discretion by excluding the contrary opinions of Plaintiff's experts, and in the absence of otherwise sufficient expert testimony, correctly entered summary judgment in favor of MWHC as to the claim of medical negligence.

ARGUMENT

I. Applicable Law and Standards of review.

The admissibility of expert testimony is governed by Fed. R. Evid. 702. *Motorola Inc. v. Murray*, 147 A.3d 751, 752 (D.C. 2016). "The purpose of expert testimony is to *avoid* jury findings based on mere conjecture or speculation," and "the sufficiency of the foundation for expert opinions should be measured with this purpose in mind." *Giordano v. Sherwood*, 968 A.2d 494, 498 (D.C. 2009) (emphasis added; cleaned up). The trial court's role is "to deny admission to expert testimony that is not reliable," and only "admit that which is 'derived from reliable principles that have been reliably applied." *Govan v. Brown*, 228 A.3d 142, 155 (D.C. 2020) (quoting *Motorola*, 147 A.3d at 755, 757). Critically, trial courts are "not required to admit opinion evidence that is connected to the existing data only by the *ipse dixit* of the expert." *Russell v. Call/D, LLC*, 122 A.3d 860 (D.C. 2015) (quoting *Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 157 (1999)).

Rule 702 imposes an affirmative burden on the proponent of expert testimony to demonstrate to the trial court that the testimony is reliable, and thus admissible. *See* Rule 702. Ultimately, the trial court's ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony is reviewed under the deferential abuse of discretion standard. *Russell*, 122 A.3d at 867. Under this standard, "the trial court's decision will be 'sustained unless it is manifestly erroneous." *Russell*, 122 A.3d at 867 (citations omitted).

This Court reviews a trial court's summary judgment rulings *de novo*. Flagstar Bank v. Advanced Fin. Invs., LLC, 333 A.3d 851, 857 (D.C. 2025). "Summary judgment should be granted in favor of a moving party when there is 'no genuine issue of material fact' so that the moving party is 'entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. at 858 (cleaned up). A dispute is "genuine" only if "the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party." Baker v. Chrissy Condo. Ass'n, 251 A.3d 301, 305 (D.C. 2021).

II. The trial court correctly granted summary judgment on the claim for medical negligence because the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* cannot reliably be applied to the complex medical circumstances of this case.

The central issue in this appeal is whether the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* can reliably be applied to the complex medical circumstances of this case. Specifically, whether negligence can reliably be inferred from the fact that Mr. Pearson — who was "actively dying" less than a month into this hospitalization, and whose providers thus urged (in vain) should be transferred to comfort care — had a pressure injury that eventually progressed to Stage 4 by the time of his death.

As more fully explained below, *res ipsa loquitur* cannot reliably be applied under the complex medical circumstances of this case. The trial court thus soundly exercised its discretion in granting the motion to exclude the contrary opinions of the Plaintiff's experts, and correctly entered summary judgment in favor of MWHC on the claim of medical negligence. (A1167).

A. The doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* cannot reliably be applied to the complex medical circumstances of this case, and the trial court soundly exercised its discretion by excluding the contrary opinions of Plaintiff's experts.

To prevail on a claim of medical negligence, "the plaintiff must prove [1] the applicable standard of care, [2] deviation from that standard of care and [3] a causal relationship between the deviation and the injury." *Travers v. District of Columbia*, 672 A.2d 566 (D.C. 1996). Expert testimony is usually required to establish each of these elements, "except where proof is so obvious as to lie within the ken of the average lay juror." *Derzavis v. Bepko*, 766 A.2d 514, 529 (D.C. 2000) (quoting *Washington v. Washington Hospital Center*, 579 A.2d 177, 181 (D.C. 1990)).

"The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur, when applicable, permits the jury to infer negligence from the mere occurrence of an accident [or adverse result, or injury]." Quin v. George Washington University, 407 A.2d 580, 583 (D.C. 1979) (emphasis added). However, it is axiomatic that, "[d]ue to the 'great variety of infections and complications which, despite all precautions and skill, sometimes follow accepted and standard medical treatment,' an inference of negligence cannot be based solely on the fact that an adverse result follows treatment." Giordano, 968 A.2d at 498 (quoting Quin, 407 A.2d at 583, in turn quoting Quick, 290 F.2d 360, 363-64). Accordingly, "res ipsa loquitur is not to be invoked lightly in any case, and particularly not where medical malpractice is claimed[.]" Gubbins v. Hurson, 885 A.2d 269, 282 (D.C. 2005) (emphasis added).

To support a reliable *res ipsa loquitur* inference, the plaintiff is required to prove that, under the facts of the given case, the injuries "(1) ordinarily do not occur in the absence of negligence, (2) are caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant, and (3) are not due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of the plaintiff." *Gubbins*, 885 A.2d at 282 (quoting *Quin*, 407 A.2d at 583). The first two requirements are the focus in this case.

While expert testimony is *necessary* to establish that an injury "ordinarily" would not have occurred without negligence, such testimony "is not always sufficient to entitle the plaintiff to invoke the doctrine." Gubbins, 885 A.2d at 282 (emphasis added). A trial court can reasonably conclude that such testimony is not sufficient to support a reliable res ipsa loquitur inference where the record "indicates a lack of consensus in the medical field as to the cause of [the injury] following [treatment], despite agreement that such [injury] is a rarity." Quin, 407 A.2d at 584. As this Court articulated in Quin, "we must be fair to the patient who has received a result which . . . ordinarily would not occur without negligence, and to the doctor if there is a result which could occur without negligence." *Id.* at 584. Accordingly, if the record supports "two equally plausible conclusions" as to cause of the injury, one of which is consistent with natural causes, the reliability of a res ipsa loquitur inference is undermined. *Id.* at "It would do violence to the concept to permit a jury to balance possibilities rather than probabilities." *Id*.

Even if the injury ordinarily would not have occurred absent negligence, the plaintiff still must introduce "evidence with sufficient probative force to support an inference that [the] injury was 'probably' caused by an instrumentality under defendant's exclusive control." *Id.* at 585. "[This] inference may flow automatically where a defendant is in complete control of a procedure which results in an injury, and he alone has the means of knowing what occurred." *Id.* But "when plaintiff relies on circumstantial evidence to establish causation as an element of res ipsa loquitur, the evidence must make plaintiff's theory reasonably probable, not merely possible, and more probable than any other theory based on the evidence." *Id.*

This Court's decisions in *Quin*, 407 A.2d 580 and *Gubbins*, 885 A.2d 269, are instructive as to the practical application of these requirements, as this Court held that a *res ipsa loquitur* inference could reliably be drawn under the circumstances presented in the latter case (*Gubbins*), but not the former (*Quin*).⁵

In *Quin*, hours after undergoing a splenectomy Quin "was found in a state of respiratory arrest" and "manifested signs of abdominal hemorrhaging." *Quin*, 407 A.2d at 581. An exploratory surgery identified an "open hole in the splenic vein" as the source of the bleeding, "although the vessel had been previously ligated at the

Both decisions involved refusals to give a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction to the jury. This distinction in terms of posture does not obviate the instructive value. Indeed, whether a party is entitled to a jury instruction on a particular theory hinges on "whether it is supported by evidence in the case." *Washington v. United States*, 111 A.3d 16, 23 (D.C. 2015) (cleaned up).

previous procedure." *Id.* at 581-82. The vein was religated but Quin continued to bleed and, despite treatment efforts, eventually "died of liver failure due to extensive blood loss resulting from abdominal hemorrhaging." *Id.* at 582.

At trial, Quin's wife produced two experts – Drs. Golkin and Barrick – who opined that the surgeons (Drs. Shorb and Knoll) improperly ligated major splenic vessels and the suture slipped off. *Id.* at 582. Both experts "opined that the injury would not have occurred if standard operating procedure had been followed," and "[n]either had ever heard of a spontaneous rupture of the splenic vein following a splenectomy." *Id.* at 582. Dr. Barrick (similar to Dr. Guerrero in the present case) "admitted that the splenectomy as described in the post-operative notes followed accepted procedures," yet "based on the injury he concluded that defendants deviated from the standard procedure by improperly ligating the vein." *Id.* at 584.

Conversely, Dr. Knoll's own position was that "a spontaneous rupture of the vein took place due to a weakened vessel wall," and Dr. Knoll, along with Dr. Shorb, referenced "medical journal articles on which they based their opinions that a spontaneous rupture could occur." *Id.* at 582. Ultimately, the trial court declined to instruct the jury on *res ipsa loquitur* observing, "while Mr. Quin's death may have been caused by profuse bleeding from the splenic vessel, the cause of that bleeding is not known inasmuch as there is conflicting evidence on that point." *Id.* at 585.

This Court affirmed the trial court's ruling in *Quin* for two reasons. First, in connection with the threshold requirement that Quin's injury "ordinarily" would not have occurred in the absence of negligence, this Court observed that the evidence "show[ed] two *equally plausible* conclusions were deducible, *i.e.*, the hole in the splenic vein arose from improper ligation by surgeons, or from natural causes (spontaneous rupture)." *Id.* at 584 (emphasis added). This Court distinguished that dynamic from a "mere dispute in the evidence," as to which "reasonable men may differ as to the 'balance of probabilities." *Id.* (quoting *Cho v. Kempler*, 177 Cal, pp. 2d 342 (1960)). This Court reasoned, "it would do violence to the concept to permit a jury to balance possibilities rather than probabilities." *Id.* at 585.

Second, the required inference that Quin's injury was actually caused by an instrumentality under the exclusive control of Drs. Shorb and Knoll did not arise automatically given the evidence that it "could have resulted from natural causes." *Id.* at 585. Nor did circumstantial evidence make that inference "more probable than any other theory based on the evidence." *Id.* (emphasis added).

In Cha Chaunda

In *Cho*, Cho underwent eye surgery, after which "the left side of her face was crooked, paralyzed, numb; her left eye remained constantly open; she was subject to uncontrollable drooling." *Cho*, 177 Cal. App. 2d at 344. A second procedure revealed that the surgeon, "had completed severed [Cho's] facial nerve[.]" *Id.* at 345. The eye surgeon "admitted that he severed the nerve where it is encased in a bony cavity," and "[he] *gave no explanation for the transaction of the nerve with a rongeur in an area in which* . . . *severance was virtually impossible*." *Id.* at 346-47 (emphasis added).

In *Gubbins*, this Court reached the opposite conclusion. There, after a bladder surgery (performed by a Dr. Hurson) involving the administration of anesthesia via epidural catheter (by a Dr. Kim), Gubbins "experienced numbness and weakness in her legs, fell to the floor, and was unable to stand or walk." *Gubbins*, 885 A.2d at 274. An EMG revealed nerve damage to her spine, yet she "was unable to obtain an explanation of her nerve injury from her health care providers." *Id*.

At trial, Gubbins called two experts, Dr. Severino and Dr. Battle. Dr. Severino opined that the nerve injury was attributable to improper technique by Dr. Kim, citing the "incautious" size of the large initial dose, coupled with placing the catheter too close to the nerve root. *Id.* at 280. Dr. Battle opined that the nerve injury occurred either as a result of Dr. Hurson leaving Gubbins' legs extended under unrelieved stress for over two hours, or Dr. Kim's faulty technique. *Id.* at 280-81. Both experts "opined that the injury could not have occurred absent negligence in the operating room, when Gubbins was under the defendants' exclusive control." *Id.* at 281.

Dr. Hurson and Dr. Kim, "did not deny . . . that the nerve injury . . . ordinarily would not have occurred absent medical negligence of some kind in the operating room." *Id.* at 280. Ultimately, "no defense witness was able to explain how Gubbins was injured or to rule out negligence as the probable case." *Gubbins*, 885 A.2d at 281 (emphasis added). Nevertheless, the trial court in *Gubbins* refused to instruct the jury on the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*. *Id.* at 278-80. This Court reversed.

This Court acknowledged that, "[r]es ipsa loquitur is not to be invoked lightly in any case, and particularly not where medical malpractice is claimed," and that, "a trial court properly may refuse to instruct on *res ipsa loquitur* if it finds that 'two equally plausible conclusions' as to the presence or absence of negligence are deducible from the testimony *in toto*." *Gubbins*, 885 A.2d at 282-83 (quoting *Wash*. *Metro*. *Area Transit Auth*. v. *L'Enfant Plaza Props.*, *Inc.*, 448 A.2d 864, 868 (D.C. 1982); citing *Quin*, 407 A.2d at 584).

However, the record "did not establish a lack of medical consensus on the question of whether Gubbins' nerve injury was most probably caused by negligence of some kind on the part of the physicians attending her in the operating room." *Id.* at 283. This Court observed the only attempt to articulate a non-negligent cause for Gubbins's nerve injury came from her treating neurologist (Dr. Anderson), and the theory was grounded in an admittedly rare "hypersensitivity" to medication that was wholly unsubstantiated by any facts specific to the case:

It was a possibility . . . that was not independently substantiated; even though such hypersensitivity was admittedly rare, the defense produced no test results or other evidence that Gubbins in fact was unusually allergic or sensitive to the anesthetic used in her operation. In our view, the undeveloped evidence that Gubbins' nerve injury *could have been* an idiosyncratic, unpredictable and uncommon drug reaction fell short of rebutting the expert testimony that such an injury *ordinarily* does not occur in the absence of negligence. In other words, no "equally plausible" alternative to negligence was shown.

Gubbins, 885 A.2d at 283 (bold emphasis added).

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